9-22-2011

## State v. Schwab Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38797

## I. Statement of the Case

### A. Nature of the Case

Appellant Lynn Schwab (“Schwab”) appeals from the District Court’s denial of his Motion in Limine seeking to exclude a 1998 Montana driving under the influence (“DUI”) conviction from being used to enhance a later DUI charge to a felony in Idaho.

### B. Course of Proceedings

On November 23, 2010, the Respondent, state of Idaho (“State”), charged Schwab by Information with felony Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of Alcohol (two or more within ten years), pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 18-8004, 8005(6).<sup>1</sup> R., pp. 32-33. The “two or more within ten years” charging enhancement is based, in part, on Defendant’s Montana record, which contains a conviction for Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol #2. R., p. 74.

---

<sup>1</sup> Section 8005(6) provides that “any person who pleads guilty to or is found guilty of a violation of the provisions of section 18-8004(1)(a), (b) or (c), Idaho Code, who previously has been found guilty of or has pled guilty to two (2) or more violations of the provisions of section 18-8004(1)(a), (b) or (c), Idaho Code, *or any substantially conforming foreign criminal violation*, or any combination thereof, within ten (10) years, notwithstanding the form of the judgment(s) or withheld judgment(s), shall be guilty of a felony.” (Emphasis added).

On January 3, 2011, Schwab filed a Motion in Limine, seeking to prohibit the State from using a Montana DUI conviction for the felony charging enhancement in Idaho. R., p. 47. The District Court denied the Motion. R., pp. 123-29. Schwab entered a conditional plea agreement, agreeing to plead guilty to all three counts in the Information,<sup>2</sup> but reserving the right to appeal the Court's denial of his Motion in Limine. R., pp. 142-44.

On April 7, 2011, the District Court sentenced Schwab on the felony conviction at issue on appeal to seven years in prison, consisting of a fixed term of two (2) years, followed by an indeterminate term of five (5) years. The Court suspended the sentence and placed Schwab on probation for a period of seven years. R., pp. 149-53. Schwab does not challenge his sentence in this appeal.<sup>3</sup>

On May 16, 2011, Schwab filed a timely notice of appeal, challenging the District Court's denial of his Motion in Limine. R., pp. 160-61.

---

<sup>2</sup> The State also charged Schwab in the instant case with driving without a driver's license and failure to provide proof of insurance, but those charges are not at issue in this appeal. R., p. 32-33.

<sup>3</sup> The District Court also imposed a fine and costs and sentenced Schwab to 180 terms in jail, with 150 days suspended, on each of the misdemeanor counts, to run concurrently with his felony sentence, which included 120 days in jail as part of the probationary term. R., pp. 152-53.

### C. Statement of Facts

The Idaho DUI offense of conviction, from which Schwab has appealed to this Court, occurred on September 30, 2010. R., p. 7. However, it is the facts related to an arrest on April 30, 2008 in Montana that are relevant to the issues raised on appeal.

In April of 2008, the state of Montana charged Schwab with DUI, turning without proper signal, and driving while suspended. R., p. 65. He appeared in Court on May 21, 2008, and was advised of his constitutional rights to be represented by an attorney and to have a trial at which he would have the right to confront any witnesses called against him. R., pp. 65-66. Schwab entered not guilty pleas to the charges and indicated that he hoped to hire his own attorney. R., pp. 59, 65. Schwab's mother posted bond for Schwab and he was released from custody. R., p. 123-24. The conditions of bail allowed Schwab to leave Montana for work-related purposes. R., p. 67. The Montana court did not check the box requiring Schwab to "PERSONALLY APPEAR FOR ALL Court appearances" as a condition of release on bail, but only required that he personally appear for arraignment or trial. *Id.* (emphasis added).

The omnibus hearing held in Montana on July 22, 2008 was neither an arraignment nor trial. R., pp. 65, 68. At that time, Schwab was working in Torrance, California, and did not appear for the hearing.<sup>4</sup> R., pp. 59, 68; 124. Schwab had not been able to find an attorney he could afford to hire and so no counsel appeared for him either. R., p. 59. The Montana court issued a bench warrant on June 22, 2008, and a notice of trial was mailed to Schwab at an address written in the court file: 1101 Chamberlain St., in Boise, Idaho.<sup>5</sup> R., pp. 65, 69, 124. The District Court found that Schwab had provided this address to the Montana court. R., p. 127. The Montana prosecutor, Nancy Rohde, averred that “Mr. Schwab’s Notice of Bond Forfeiture and his Trial Notice were returned to the Court with a yellow stamp indicating the premises were Vacant and Unable to

---

<sup>4</sup> Although Schwab presented evidence about his reasons for not have knowledge about the trial and for his misunderstandings about the proceedings, some of which the District Court found not credible, *see* R., p. 127, even on the facts as the District Court found them to be and as filled in from the record where the District Court did not make specific findings of fact, Mr. Schwab submits his conviction was constitutionally defective and should not be used to enhance his Idaho DUI charge.

<sup>5</sup> The address provided to the officer at the time of Schwab’s arrest was an address in Fairfield, Idaho. R., p. 65; 123. The Montana court notices of hearings and trials were sent to 1101 Chamberlain Street in Boise, Idaho. R., pp. 68-70, 73. The District Court noted that the Chamberlain address is the one written by the Montana judge on the Notice to Appear and Complaint (the same document that also lists the Fairfield address on the citation issued by the Laurel Police Officer). R., p. 65; 124.

Forward,” and the Idaho District Court cited this fact in the Order on Schwab’s Motion in Limine. R., pp. 94, 125.

Nonetheless, the Montana court went forward with the court trial as scheduled, on September 9, 2008, without Schwab being present, but there is no recording or transcript of those proceedings, nor any minutes from the trial. At that uncounseled and unrecorded trial, of which Schwab averred he had received no notice, the Montana court found Schwab guilty of the DUI offense (and two infractions). R., p. 123. Schwab averred that he was at no time advised that a trial might be initiated in his absence, nor did he waive his right to be represented by counsel and/or to appear at trial. R., p. 60, at ¶ 6. There also is no indication that the Court reviewed with Schwab the perils of representing himself if he did not secure the representation of counsel.

It is the use of this un-counseled Montana DUI conviction---obtained at a trial held in Schwab’s absence---to enhance his present DUI charge to a felony that Schwab challenges. Schwab’s Motion in Limine requested that the District Court prohibit the State from using the conviction to enhance his current DUI charge to a felony pursuant to Idaho Code Section 18-8005. That Motion was denied, and the issues raised below are now brought to this Court for review.

## II. Statement of the Issues

1. Whether the District Court erred in denying Schwab's Motion in Limine where the record does not support a conclusion that the Montana Court followed Montana's statutory procedure for trying a defendant in a misdemeanor case *in absentia* and without counsel?
2. Whether the District Court erred in finding the State had met its burden to demonstrate that Schwab's 2008 Montana DUI conviction, used to enhance his Idaho DUI charge to a felony, was constitutionally sound?

## III. Argument

### A. Standards of Review

“This Court defers to the factual findings of the district court unless those findings are clearly erroneous,” but “exercises free review of the district court’s application of the relevant law to the facts.” *City of Boise v. Frazier*, 143 Idaho 1, 2, 137 P.3d 388, 389 (2006) (citing *Roberts v. State*, 132 Idaho 494, 496, 975 P.2d 782, 784 (1999)). “Constitutional issues are questions of law over which [the Court] also exercise[s] free review.” *Id.* See also *State v. Weber*, 140 Idaho 89, 91, 90 P.3d 314, 316 (2004).

**B. The Burden Was on the State to Demonstrate That no Violation of Schwab's Rights Occurred With Respect to the Montana Conviction**

In *State v. Beloit*, 123 Idaho 36, 844 P.2d 18 (1992), “this Court set forth the respective burdens for a constitutional challenge to a prior conviction that is used to enhance a DUI charge from a misdemeanor to a felony.” *State v. Coby*, 128 Idaho 90, 92, 910 P.2d 762, 764 (1996). The State bears the burden of showing the existence of the prior conviction. *Id.* Once the State meets its burden, the defendant has “the burden of going forward with some evidence that the conviction was constitutionally defective.” *State v. Moore*, 148 Idaho 887, 895, 231 P.3d 532, 540 (Ct. App. 2010). *See also Coby*, 128 Idaho at 92, 910 P.2d at 764. “In turn, once the defendant raises a triable issue of fact concerning whether he was accorded his right to counsel, or that he did not properly waive the right, the burden of proof is then upon the state to rebut the defendant’s evidence and convince the court that no violation of the defendant’s rights occurred.” *Moore*, 148 Idaho at 895, 231 P.3d at 540.

Here, the District Court concluded that Schwab “provided direct evidence of a constitutional infringement of his right to have counsel at his trial” and, therefore, the burden was on the State “to convince the court that the 2008 conviction was not entered in violation of Schwab’s rights.” *R.*, p. 126. Thus, the overarching issue

on appeal can be generally stated as whether the District Court properly determined that the State met its burden in this regard.

**C. Montana's Statute Allowing Trial of an Absent Defendant Requires the Montana Court To Find Schwab (1) Had Knowledge of the Trial Date and (2) Was Voluntarily Absent Before Proceeding With the Trial**

Montana, by statute, provides courts with discretion to proceed with a trial in a misdemeanor criminal proceeding, without the defendant's presence, "[i]f the defendant's counsel is authorized to act on the defendant's behalf . . . or if the defendant is not represented by counsel." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-122 (2)(d). However, if the defendant is not represented by counsel, the Court may proceed with the trial only "*after* finding that the defendant had knowledge of the trial date and is voluntarily absent." *Id.* (Emphasis added). There is no indication in the Montana state court record that the court made such a finding in Mr. Schwab's case. The Montana Clerk of the Court advised that there are no audio recordings of the proceedings in the Montana court case. R., p. 62, at ¶ 3. Accordingly, not only is there no record that the Montana court made the required finding, but there also is no record of what, if any, evidence was presented to support the DUI conviction entered against Schwab in his absence. For this reason alone, Schwab submits that the State has not, and cannot, demonstrate that his prior conviction *in absentia* was valid.

The Order for Conditions of Bail entered in the Montana case directed Schwab to personally appear for arraignment and trial, but did not state that he must appear for all hearings. R 67. Schwab was absent for one of the “other” categories of hearings, the omnibus hearing on July 22, 2008, at which his trial date was set. Schwab averred that he did not receive notice of the September 9, 2008 trial date, R., p. 60, ¶ 6, and the notice of trial was returned to the Montana court with a stamp indicating that the Chamberlin Street premises were “vacant” and they were “unable to forward.” R., p. 94, 125. It is unknown whether the Montana court considered these facts because there is no record of a deliberative process or a finding made under Montana Code § 46-16-122 (2)(d). Schwab submits that this finding is one the Montana court is required to make to effect a valid conviction upon a trial conducted without the defendant or counsel present and it cannot be remedied by the Idaho District Court making those findings in the first instance on collateral attack. Considering the record before this Court, there is not sufficient evidence to find that the Montana court followed the procedure required by Montana law.

**D. The Constitutions of the United States and Idaho Establish an Accused’s Rights to Due Process, the Assistance of Counsel, and to be Present at Trial**

Article 1, § 13 of the Idaho Constitution provides that: “In all criminal prosecutions, the party accused shall have the right to a speedy and public trial . . .

and to appear and defend in person and with counsel. No person shall be . . . deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.” (Emphasis added). See also *State v. Miller*, 131 Idaho 186, 188, 953 P.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 1998). The right of an accused to be present at trial is grounded in the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *United States v. Gagnon*, 470 U.S. 522, 526, 105 S.Ct. 1482, 1484, 84 L.Ed.2d 486 (1985). Additionally, a defendant has the right to assistance of counsel in all criminal prosecutions and this Sixth Amendment right is made obligatory on the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. See *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

#### **E. The Montana Conviction was Obtained in Violation of Schwab’s Right to Counsel**

A DUI defendant in Idaho has the right to collaterally attack the constitutional validity of a prior DUI conviction if that prior conviction was obtained in violation of his right to counsel. *State v. Weber*, 140 Idaho 89, 94-95, 90 P.3d 314, 319 (2004). Schwab did not have the assistance of counsel at the trial of this matter. Although he had been informed of his right to counsel at his May 2008 court appearance, he wanted to see if he could afford private counsel before seeking a court-appointed attorney. At no time did Defendant waive his right to counsel. See *Iowa v. Tovar*, 541 U.S. 77, 88, 124 S.Ct. 1379, 1387 (2004) (noting

that any waiver of the right to counsel must “be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent”). Schwab’s entire Montana DUI proceeding was conducted without the assistance of counsel.

Although the District Court agreed that Schwab provided evidence of a constitutional infringement of his right to have counsel at his trial, R., p. 126, the court determined this did not render his Montana conviction constitutionally defective. The District Court, in considering Schwab’s Motion in Limine, noted that “[p]resumably if a defendant does not know of his trial date, he could not have informed his counsel to be present to represent him.” R., p. 126. However, the District Court went on to find that “Schwab intentionally provided an incorrect mailing address to the court” and his “failure to know of a trial date is directly attributable to his efforts to keep himself deliberately ignorant by providing a false address.” R., p. 127. Schwab disagrees with this finding and notes that a trial was not scheduled at his first appearance nor was he told he had to attend all hearings.

The District Court relied, in part, on a Montana case in discussing this issue. *See* R 126-27 (citing *State v. Weaver*, 342 Mont. 196, 179 P.3d 532 (2008)). In contrast to the *Weaver* case, Mr. Schwab did not have counsel representing him. *See Weaver*, 342 Mont. at 199, 179 P.3d at 535. *Weaver*’s counsel appeared at his trial, even though *Weaver* did not, and the Montana court took into consideration

that Weaver had been ordered to maintain contact with his counsel when the court determined that Weaver waived his right to be present at trial by keeping himself deliberately ignorant and not keeping his “obligation to remain in contact with his counsel”. *Id.* at 199-200, 179 P.3d at 536. If Schwab had the benefit of counsel’s assistance, the facts of this case and Weaver would be more comparable.

One purpose of the constitutional right to counsel “is to protect an accused from conviction resulting from his own ignorance of his legal and constitutional rights.” *Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458, 465 (1938). That is precisely what occurred here. Schwab’s ignorance of how the legal process works, coupled with the Montana court’s willingness to conduct a trial *in absentia*, without keeping a record of the trial, resulted in a conviction that now has collateral consequences for Schwab in the present case.

Moreover, Schwab was never informed of the dangers of self-representation he faced if he failed to obtain counsel to represent him. Although the Sixth Amendment affords “a defendant the right to forego the assistance of counsel and to defend himself,” *State v. Dalrymple*, 144 Idaho 628, 633, 167 P.3d 765, 770 (2007) (citing *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 2533 (1975) and Idaho Const. Art. I, § 13), “[t]o be valid, a waiver of the right to counsel must have been effected knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently.” *Id.* (quoting *State v.*

*Lovelace*, 140 Idaho 53, 64, 90 P.3d 278, 289 (2003)). This Court examines “the totality of the circumstances in determining whether ... [a] waiver is valid.” *Id.* “The State bears the burden to prove that the defendant voluntarily waived his Sixth Amendment rights.” *Id.* As this Court discussed in *Dalrymple*, the United States Supreme Court has “stated the defendant must ‘be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation.’” *Id.* (citing 422 U.S. at 835, 95 S.Ct. at 2541, 45 L.Ed.2d at 582). *Faretta* warnings must be given “so that the record will establish that ‘he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.’” *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The Montana court has set forth similar requirements. *State v. Colt*, 255 Mont. 399, 407, 843 P.2d 747, 751 (1992) (explaining that what it means that *Faretta* requires the accused “be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation”). Schwab, in effect, was proceeding without counsel when he could not afford an attorney to assist him, but he did so with no knowledge of the dangers of self-representation and without knowingly and voluntarily waiving his right to counsel.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> The Montana Supreme Court has stated that it “will not engage in presumptions of waiver; any waiver of one’s constitutional rights must be made specifically, voluntarily, and knowingly.” *State v. Bird*, 308 Mont. 75, 81, 43 P.3d 266, 271 (2002). Schwab recognizes that many courts have held that a waiver of the right to counsel can be inferred in some circumstances, *see R.*, pp. 128-29;

**F. Schwab's Montana Conviction is Constitutionally Deficient Because it was Obtained in Violation of his Right to Be Present at Critical Stages of Criminal Proceedings**

*1. The Idaho Constitution and Idaho Law Should Allow Persons Convicted of Crimes That are Used for Charging Enhancements to Collaterally Attack as Constitutionally Deficient a Conviction Obtained at a Trial held in absentia*

The Idaho Constitution has been read in certain circumstances to provide rights more expansive than those provided by the U.S. Constitution. Schwab submits that he should be allowed to collaterally attack the Montana conviction used to enhance his Idaho DUI charge, based on the denial of his right to be present at every critical stage of the trial. *State v. Walsh*, 141 Idaho 870, 873, 119 P.3d 645, 648 (Ct. App. 2005) (explaining that a defendant has a right to be present at every critical stage of the trial); *State v. Elliott*, 126 Idaho 323, 325, 882 P.2d 978, 980 (Ct. App. 1994). Schwab acknowledges that the Idaho Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Weber* contains language that may be, and has been, read to foreclose such a collateral attack under the federal constitution, but submits that there is still room for argument under Idaho's Constitutional guarantees. 140 Idaho 89, 90 P.3d 314.

---

however, Schwab submits that the circumstances here are too attenuated to allow for an inference that he waived his right to counsel.

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