12-14-2011

State v. Schwab Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38797

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

ARGUMENT

Schwab Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred In Denying His Motion In Limine

A. Introduction

Schwab contends that the district court erred in denying his motion in limine to prohibit his Montana DUI conviction from being used to enhance a later Idaho DUI charge to a felony. (See generally, Appellant's brief.) Specifically, Schwab contends that the district court should have entertained collateral attacks to his Montana DUI conviction on grounds beyond the alleged violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel, and that in any event, the district court erred in concluding that Schwab waived his Sixth Amendment right to counsel in the Montana case. (Id.)

However, Schwab's claims fail because under Idaho law, once the state makes a *prima facie* showing of the validity of a prior DUI conviction, a defendant may only challenge that prior conviction on Sixth Amendment right to counsel grounds. Further, the district court correctly found that Schwab waived his Sixth Amendment right to counsel with respect to the Montana case through his conduct of remaining willfully ignorant of the proceedings.

B. Standard Of Review

The standard of appellate review applicable to constitutional issues is one of deference to factual findings, unless they are clearly erroneous, but free review of whether constitutional requirements have been satisfied in light of the facts found. State v. Davis, 141 Idaho 828, 841, 118 P.3d 160, 173 (Ct. App.

2005); State v. Bromgard, 139 Idaho 375, 380, 79 P.3d 734, 739 (Ct. App. 2003); State v. Smith, 135 Idaho 712, 720, 23 P.3d 786, 794 (Ct. App. 2001).

C. Schwab Is Only Entitled To Challenge His Montana DUI Conviction On Sixth Amendment Grounds

Pursuant to I.C. § 18-8005(6), the state may enhance a defendant's third driving under the influence charge to a felony. To enhance a third charge of driving under the influence to a felony, the state must first make a *prima facie* showing of the existence of the prior two convictions upon which it relies. State v. Coby, 128 Idaho 90, 92, 910 P.2d 762, 764 (1996). This showing "requires only that the State produce the judgments of conviction or other evidence of the existence of the convictions." Id. After the state has produced the prior judgments of conviction, the defendant may challenge the use of the prior convictions by producing evidence establishing that one or more of the convictions was obtained in violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Id. Once the defendant raises a triable issue of fact concerning whether he was afforded his Sixth Amendment right to counsel, or that he did not properly waive the right, the burden of proof is then upon the state to rebut the defendant's evidence and convince the court that no violation of the defendant's rights occurred. Id.; State v. Beloit, 123 Idaho 36, 37, 844 P.2d 18, 19 (1992).

Schwab contends on appeal, as he did below, that he is entitled to attack his prior Montana DUI conviction not just on Sixth Amendment right to counsel grounds, but also pursuant to other federal constitutional rights, the Idaho Constitution, and Montana statutes. (Appellant's brief, pp.7-21.) Specifically, he

alleges that the state may not rely on his 2008 Montana conviction to enhance his new DUI because that conviction was entered contrary to M.C.A. § 46-16-122 (2)(d), his Idaho constitutional right to appear at trial in person and with counsel, and his federal constitutional right to appear at trial. (Appellant's brief, pp.8-10.)

However, it is clear that the only challenge that a defendant may make in these circumstances is one that the prior DUI conviction was entered contrary to a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Custis v. United States, 511 U.S. 485, 496 (1994); State v. Weber, 140 Idaho 89, 90 P.3d 314 (2004); State v. Warren 135 Idaho 836, 840-841, 25 P.3d 859, 863-864 (Ct. App. 2001) (adopting the holding in Custis).

Prior to Custis v. United States, the Idaho Supreme Court expressed a willingness to consider collateral challenges to prior DUI convictions on grounds other than a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Beloit, 123 Idaho at 37, 844 P.2d at 19 (recognizing that after the defendant raises a triable issue of fact concerning whether he was "accorded *all* of his rights," the burden is then upon the state to rebut the defendant's evidence and convince the court that "no violation of the defendant's rights occurred.") (emphasis added, citations omitted); see also State v. Maxey, 125 Idaho 505, 511, 873 P.2d 150, 156 (1994) (considering, approximately one month before the United States Supreme Court entered its opinion in Custis v. United States, defendant's claim that the guilty pleas he entered for his prior DUI charges were not made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily, and did not comply with the requirements of I.C.R. 11(c)).

However, in Custis v. United States, the United States Supreme Court held that a defendant's due process right to collaterally attack a conviction used for enhancement purposes in a subsequent proceeding is limited to the singular constitutional defect of failure to appoint counsel. Id. at 496. Therefore, pursuant to Custis, there is no constitutional right to challenge the constitutional validity of a prior DUI conviction on any other constitutional or statutory ground. See Partee v. Hopkins, 30 F.3d 1011, 1012 (8th Cir. 1994) (“[t]here is no federal constitutional right to collaterally attack a prior conviction used to enhance a sentence on any constitutional ground other than failure to appoint counsel for an indigent defendant.”); State v. Veikoso, 74 P.3d 575, 580 (Hawaii 2003) (recognizing that in Custis, “the United States Supreme Court made it clear that a defendant's constitutional right to mount a collateral attack did not extend beyond situations where the prior convictions were obtained in violation of the right to counsel.”).

The Idaho Court of Appeals adopted Custis in Warren, 135 Idaho at 840-841, 25 P.3d at 863-864. The state had utilized Warren's prior aggravated battery conviction to enhance his new felony charge pursuant to the Idaho persistent violator statute (I.C. § 19-2514). Warren, 135 Idaho at 838-839, 25 P.3d at 861-862. Warren argued that his trial counsel on the new felony was constitutionally ineffective for incorrectly advising him that he could not present evidence collaterally attacking his prior aggravated battery conviction on ineffective assistance of counsel grounds. Id. Citing Custis, the Idaho Court of Appeals recognized that “the United States Supreme Court held that a

defendant's due process right to collaterally attack a conviction used for sentencing enhancement purposes in a later proceeding is limited to the constitutional defect of failure to appoint counsel.” Id. at 840, 25 P.3d at 863. The Idaho Court of Appeals then held that Warren had no constitutional right to challenge the validity of his prior conviction based upon a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. The Court also expressly declined to hold that Warren had any greater rights to collaterally attack his prior convictions under the Idaho Constitution. Id. at 841, 25 P.3d at 864.

In adopting Custis, the Idaho Court of Appeals referenced the policy concerns expressed by the United States Supreme Court:

Ease of administration also supports the distinction [between Sixth Amendment challenges and other constitutional or statutory challenges to prior convictions]. As revealed in a number of the cases cited in this opinion, failure to appoint counsel at all will generally appear from the judgment roll itself, or from an accompanying minute order. But determination of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, and failure to assure that a guilty plea was voluntary, would require sentencing courts to rummage through frequently nonexistent or difficult to obtain state court transcripts or records that may date from another era, and may come from any one of the 50 States.

The interest in promoting the finality of judgments provides additional support for our constitutional conclusion. As we have explained, “[i]nroads on the concept of finality tend to undermine confidence in the integrity of our procedures” and inevitably delay and impair the orderly administration of justice. (Citations omitted). By challenging the previous conviction, the defendant is asking a district court “to deprive [the] [state court judgment] of [its] normal force and effect in a proceeding that ha[s] an independent purpose other than to overturn the prior judgment[t].” (Citation omitted).

Warren, 135 Idaho at 841, 25 P.3d at 864 (quoting Custis, 511 U.S. at 496-497).

Then, in Weber, 140 Idaho at 92-96, 90 P.3d at 317-321, the Idaho Supreme Court held that a defendant could not collaterally attack his prior DUI convictions pursuant to either I.C.R. 11, or constitutional standards intended to ensure that guilty pleas are knowing and voluntary. In so doing, the Idaho Supreme Court expressly overruled Beloit and Maxey “to the extent that [those opinions] appear to provide a basis for a defendant to collaterally attack the validity of prior DUI convictions on ground other than the denial of counsel.” Weber, 140 Idaho at 96, 90 P.3d at 321. The Court also reiterated the policy considerations described in Custis and Warren, and added, “allowing a collateral attack on prior convictions on the basis of inadequate plea colloquies would force the sentencing court to look behind every conviction with practically no record to rely on.” Weber, 140 Idaho at 94-95, 90 P.3d at 319-320 (quoting Kansas v. Delacruz, 258 Kan. 129, 139, 899 P.2d 1042, 1049 (1995)).

The present case illustrates the concerns expressed by the United States Supreme Court in Custis, the Idaho Court of Appeals in Warren, and the Idaho Supreme Court in Weber. The Montana trial court that presided over Schwab's Montana DUI proceedings did not maintain audio recordings or transcripts of those proceedings. (R., pp.56, 62.) In such a situation, a defendant may be able to challenge the validity of his prior DUI conviction and create a triable issue of fact simply by, as the district court concluded Schwab did in this case, submitting false affidavits. While this case involves the rare circumstance where even a Sixth Amendment challenge cannot quickly be resolved from “the judgment roll itself, or accompanying minute order,” it is representative of the necessary

“rummag[ing] through frequently nonexistent or difficult to obtain state-court transcripts or records” that the United States Supreme Court sought to avoid.

The district court correctly recognized that the only challenge Schwab could make to his Montana DUI conviction was a Sixth Amendment right to counsel challenge. (R., p.126.) This Court should not consider additional grounds on appeal.

D. Schwab Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred In Concluding That He Waived His Sixth Amendment Right To Counsel With Regard To His Montana Conviction

After the state made a *prima facie* showing of the existence and validity of Schwab's 2008 Montana DUI conviction, Schwab produced evidence, in the form of sworn affidavits, establishing a Sixth Amendment right to counsel challenge of the Montana conviction. (R., pp.50-75; 125-126.) The state rebutted Schwab's evidence with evidence of its own, that contradicted several of Schwab's assertions. (R., pp.80-117.)

The district court then concluded that pertinent factual allegations from Schwab's affidavits were false. (R., pp.123-130.) Specifically, the district court found Schwab intentionally provided a false address to the arresting officer and Montana court in order to keep himself willfully ignorant of the proceedings in the

Montana DUI case.³ (Id.) The district court then concluded that Schwab had, through this conduct, waived his Sixth Amendment right to counsel with regard to his Montana DUI conviction. (Id.)

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to counsel during all critical stages of the adversarial proceedings against him or her. Estrada v. State, 143 Idaho 558, 562, 149 P.3d 833, 837 (2006); United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 224 (1967).

However, a defendant may waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel through his conduct, and such a waiver may be implied. U.S. v. Murphy, 469 F.3d 1130 (7th Circ. 2009) (holding that a defendant who failed to provide financial information required to establish eligibility for court-appointed counsel, and who then failed to secure counsel during nine months between arraignment and start of trial impliedly waived his right to counsel, and recognizing that a defendant “may not use this [Sixth Amendment right] to play a 'cat and mouse' game with the court, or by ruse or stratagem fraudulently seek to have the trial judge placed in a position where, in moving along the business of the court, the

³ While Schwab indicates that he “disagrees” with the district court's factual findings (Appellant's brief, p.11), he does not contend on appeal that any of these findings were clearly erroneous. In any event, the credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters solely within the province of the district court. Peterson v. State, 139 Idaho 95, 97, 73 P.3d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2003). In this case, the district court also found that Schwab's credibility was “further undermined” by the statements of the assigned Montana prosecuting attorney, who swore via affidavit that, contrary to Schwab's allegations, she never contacted Schwab and offered to amend the Montana DUI to “inattentive driving.” (R., p.127.)

judge appears to be arbitrarily depriving the defendant of counsel”) (quoting U.S. ex rel. Davis v. McMann, 386 F.2d 611, 618-619 (2nd Cir. 1967)).

Several courts have held that where a defendant fails to appear at a trial after being advised of the trial date, he waives his right to counsel through his conduct. In State v. Robertson 675 S.E.2d 732, 733 (S.C. 2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that when a defendant never appeared for a trial after being advised of the trial date, his “disregard for the instructions of the court, and his inexcusable absence from trial” constituted a “waiver by conduct of the right to counsel.” In Jackson v. State, 868 N.E.2d 494, 496-497 (Ind. 2007), the defendant appeared at a scheduling conference, advised the court that he would be hiring an attorney, and was given a trial date. When the defendant failed to appear for the trial he was tried and convicted *in absentia*. Id. The Indiana Supreme Court held that the defendant, through his conduct, waived his right to counsel, and recognized that “a defendant cannot be permitted to manipulate the system simply by refusing to show up for trial.” Id. See also Brewer v. Raines, 670 F.2d 117 (9th Cir. 1982) (The defendant received notice of his original trial date but failed to appear. After several continuances, he was convicted at a trial *in absentia* on a future date. The defendant did not receive notice of the continued trial date. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that the defendant waived, through his conduct, his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses and be present at trial, recognizing, “[a] defendant cannot be allowed to keep himself deliberately ignorant and then complain about his lack of knowledge.”); State v. Weaver, 179 P.3d 534 (Mont. 2008) (where trial court notified

defendant's appointed counsel of trial date, and defendant then failed to appear at trial, the defendant waived his right to be present at trial because he either knew of the trial date and was willfully absent therefrom, or he "kept himself deliberately ignorant of that trial date").

While it is true that in Robertson, Jackson, Brewer, and Weaver, the defendant, or the defendant's counsel, had actual knowledge of at least the original trial date setting, the reasoning of those cases applies to a situation where a defendant keeps himself willfully ignorant of an original trial setting date as well. The Montana trial court ordered Schwab to be personally present at any trial. (R., p.67.) In his "cat and mouse" game, Schwab then provided false information to two courts. He willfully gave a false address to a Montana court in an attempt to avoid the criminal proceedings there, and he then provided false affidavits to an Idaho district court in order to cast doubt on the validity of his prior Montana conviction. This is the type of disregard, manipulation, and deliberate ignorance which led to a recognition of a defendant's waiver of his Sixth Amendment rights in Robertson, Jackson, Brewer, and Weaver.

The district court correctly concluded that Schwab had waived his Sixth Amendment right to counsel with regard to his Montana DUI conviction. This Court should thus affirm his conviction.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order denying Schwab's motion in limine, and Schwab's conviction and sentence for felony driving under the influence.